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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT C
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK L
y X IE '

UNITED STATES,
Plaintiff,
-v- No. 09 Mag. 1320

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT WELLS
FARGO BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO,
CALIFORNIA, IN ACCOUNT NO.
7986104185, HELD IN THE NAME OF
ACCOUNT SERVICES INC., AND ALL KN
PROPERTY TRACEABLE THERETO, Lo

Defendant In Rem. |
.
UNITED STATES,
Plaintiff,
-v- No. 09 Mag. 1496

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION
BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA,
IN ACCOUNT NO. 3530000248, HELD IN
THE NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES
CORP., AND ALL PROPERTY
TRACEABLE THERETO, and

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION
BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO, CA., IN
ACCOQUNT NO, 3530000256, HELD IN THE
NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES CORP.,
AND ALL PROPERTY TRACEABLE
THERETO, and

Defendants /n Rem.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
X

UNITED STATES,
Plaintiff,
-v- No. 09 Mag. 1320

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT WELLS
FARGO BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO, ,,
CALIFORNIA, IN ACCOUNT NO. y
7986104185, HELD IN THE NAME OF
ACCOUNT SERVICES INC., AND ALL
PROPERTY TRACEABLE THERETO,

Defendant In Rem. 9
X (
UNITED STATES, .
Plaintiff, |
v- No. 09 Mag. 1496

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION

BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA,

IN ACCOUNT NO. 3530000248, HELD IN
THE NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES
CORP., AND ALL PROPERTY ' i
TRACEABLE THERETO, and

ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION e
BANK IN SAN FRANCISCO, CA., IN
ACCOUNT NO. 3530000256, HELD IN THE A
NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES CORP.,

AND ALL PROPERTY TRACEABLE

THERETO, and

Defendants /n Rem.

X

OPINION AND ORDER
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APPEARANCES:

ARENT FOX LLP
By: Baruch Weiss, Esq.

Matthew Trokenheim, Esq.

1675 Broadway
New York, NY 10019

Attorneys for Movant
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LEV L. DASSIN
United States Attomney for the Southern L
District of New York
By: Jeffrey Alberts
Arlo Devlin Brown
Jonathan New
Assistant United States Attomeys

Attorneys for Respondent

LAURA TAYLOR SWAIN, United States District Judge
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BACKGROUND

On June 2, 2009, a Magistrate Judge of this Court issned a warrant of seizure ir ren‘zl >
authorizing the seizure of funds in the Wc_lls Fargo Bank account pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§
981(a)(1)(A) and (C), 981(b), 984, and 1955 in Case No. 09 Mag. 1320.> (Costigan Mem. of Law ‘ '
Ex. 1-2.) On June 24, 2009, a Magistrate Judge of this Court issued a warrant of seizure in rem
authorizing the seizure of funds in the two Union Bank accounts pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§
981(a)(1)(A) and (C), 981(b), 984, and 1955 in Case No. 09 Mag. 1496. (1d. at 3-5.) Each ﬁnding
that probable cause existed to issue the warrant was based on an application supported by an
affidavit made by a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation setting out the
Government’s evidence. (Id, at 1, 3; Declaration of Special Agent Dana Conte dated July 20, 2009”\':
(“Conte Decl.”) Exs. 1, 3,) These affidavits were ordered to remain under seal “until further Order -
of the Court,” (Conte Decl. Ex. 1 at 13, Ex. 3 at 15.) The seizure warrants have been executed.? |
(Gov’t Br. 3.) The Government represents, in its brief in opposition to the unsealing application
and in a further ex parte submission that it requests be maintained under seal, that it has not yet
publicly filed a criminal or civil forfeiture action and that it is actively investigating matters

discussed in the affidavits that Costigan seeks to unseal. (Id. at 1.).

2 18 U.8.C. § 981(a)(1)(A) and (C) authorize the government to seize for civil

forfeiture property involved in, constituting, derived from, or traceable to specific
crimes, including money laundering. 18 U.S.C. § 981(b) provides that the warrant for .
seizure must be obtained in the same manner as a search warrant in a criminal matter.
18 U.S.C. § 984 provides for the forfeiture of identical fungible property, 18 U.8.C. §
1955 makes it a federal crime to finance or operate an illegal gambling business and
subsection (d) thereof provides for forfeiture of property used in connection with such’
a business. ‘

? The return for the June 2, 2009, warrant was filed on August 5, 2009, and the return.
for the June 24, 2009, watrant was filed on July 28, 2009.

COSTIGAN- MOTION TO UNSEAL. WPD VERSION 8/11/09 4
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it is outweighed to a significant degree by the countervailing factors favoring denial of access. The':i" "
Court “may not avoid the question of whether a First Amendment presumption of access also |
exists, for [Costigan] ask[s the Court] to impose the higher constitutional burden in requiring
disclosure.” Lugosch v. Pyramid Co. of Onondaga, 435 F.3d 110, 124 (citation omitted)
(remanding to the district court to determine whether the rights of access were overcome by
competing considerations).

Applicability of (he Qualified First Amendment Right of Access

“In cases dealing with the claim of a First Amendment right of access to criminal '
proceedings, [the Supreme Court’s] decisions have emphasized two complementary
considerations.” Press-Enterprise Co, v. Superior Court, 478 U.S, 1, 8 (1986). The first
consideration is “whether the place and prooess have historically been open to the press and generaii, :
public.” Id. (citing Gl spapcr Co. v. Superior Cowt, 457 U.8. 596, 605 (1982)). The
secoud consideration is “whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning ,of'v_l‘ :
the particular process in question.” Id. (¢iting Globe Newspaper, 457 U S, at 606). See also id, at ,
9 (characterizing these as “considerations of experience and logic”). The Second Circuit has
described these considerations as embodying one of two “approaches” employed by Circuit Courts W
of Appeals for determining the applicability of the First Amendment to attempts to access judicial :
docwments. Hartford Courant Co. v. Pellegrino, 380 F.3d 83, 92 (2d Cir. 2004). Scc also Lugosch, I(
435 F.3d at 120. “The sccond approach considers the extent to which the judicial documents are o
‘derived ftom ur [4re] 4 necessary corollary of the capacity to attend the relevant proceedings.’"Id. . -

at 120 (alteration in original) (quoting Hartford Coutant, 380 F.3d at 93 (2d Cir. 2004)).%

) This “second approach,” which has been relied on primatily in cases of applications

for judicial documents in cannection with specific ongoing judicial proceedings,

COSTIGAN - MQTIGN TO UNEEAL WD VERSION B/]1/09 6
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would otherwise have become public courts have differed as to whether the First Amendment
access right is triggered by the likelihood of eventual disclosure or whether the applicability of thc:e ‘
right tums on the historical precedents for access to the proceeding in connection with which the |
court acted on the basis of the affidavit, In Times Mirror, the Ninth Circuit found “no historical
tradition of open search warrant proceedings and materials,” and that “the experience of history
implies a judgment that warrant proceedings and materials should not be accessible to the public, at
least while a pre-indictment investigation is still ongoing in these cases.” 873 F.2d at 1214. The |
Fourth Cireuit, in In re Baltimore Sun, followed Times Mirror in determining that there is no First I‘
Amendment right of access to a search warrant affidavit. In te Baltimore Sun, 886 F.2d at 64-65.
By contrast, the Eighth Circuit’s determination that the right of public access extends to the
documents filed in support of search warrant applications turned on that Court’s recognition that ‘"::\ V
“search warrant applications and receipts are routinely filed with the clerk of court without seal,” . "I
the common law principle that judicial records and documents have historically been “considered:
open to inspection by the public,” and the historical tradition with respect to public access to the
suppression hearings that may follow an indictment and to which the underlying warrant
applications may be integral, 855 F.2d at 573.

Because the experience and logic test has its origin in the Supreme Court’s guidance{i’ ,
relating to the applicability of the First Amendment right to access to proceedings, and the
supporting affidavits here at issue were tendered in connection with specific warrant application
proceedings, this Court concludes that it is appropriate to look, in determining the relevant
historical context to examine in connection with the application for access to these sealed

documents, to the type of proceeding in connection with which the documents became sealed

judicial records. Indeed, the most appropriate framework for application of the "experience and

COSTIGAN - MOTION TOUNSEAL WPD VERSION 8/11/09
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First Amendment right of access is inapplicable (although the common law right of access may o
well be). If, however, experience indicates a history or tradition of public access the court must | _
move on to the second step -- the "logic" prong of the inquiry. This step requires the Court to |
examine whether "'public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the panicuia;"}: -
process in question." Hartford Courant, 380 F.3d at 92 (quoting Press-Enterprise, 478 U.S, at 8)
The First Amendment right of access will apply to the document if both prongs point to public a
access.

Application of this framework to the instant application indicates that Costigan hag
no First Amendment right of access to the seizure warrant affidavits at this juncture. Aside fromf K
this motion practice, only one type of judicial proceeding bearing any connection to the warrants :ax
issue has occurred to date: the application proceedings in connection with which the warrants wen'e:::‘“ '
issued. Warrant application proceedings are highly secret in nature and have historically been :
closed to the press and public, and neither party to this motion practice contends otherwise, Thus.;, -
the "experience" prong of the experience and logic test does not support the existence of Costigari’s;';f :.:
claimed First Amendment right. The "logic" prong is likewise unavailing for Costigan.” There is.l
no First Amendment right of access to these warrant applications at this stage because the |
experience and logic test supports no such right on the current record, and the second test (access .to‘?. .

documents as a corollary to effective public attendance at a particular proceeding) is inapplicable, ;'

Amh’g‘.gbiligx of the Common Law Right of Access

Public access does not play a significant positive role in the functioning of warrant
application proceedings. To the contrary, it is often crucial that probable cause .
determinations in connection with search or seizure warrants be shielded from public ' .
scrutiny at the time they are made in order to preserve the integrity and effectiveness
of the related criminal investigations.

COSTIGAN= MOTION TO UNSRAL WFD VERSION 8/11/0% : 101'
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The common law recognizes a night of public access to “judicial documents” or
“judicial records,” defined as those documents filed with a court and “relevant to the performance '
of the judicial function and vseful in the judicial process.” United States v. Amodeo, 44 F.3d 141, Q R
145-46 (2d Cir, 1995) (“Amedeo I”) (further characterizing the right as a “presumption favoring '
access to judicial records™). Access to such documents promotes the legitimate interests of the
public and the press in “keep[ing] a watchful eye on the workings of public agencies” and
“publish{ing] information concerning the operation of government.” Id. at 145 (quoting Nixon v: " ‘
Warper Communications, Ing,, 435 U.S. 589, 597-98 (1978)).
Affidavits in support of seizure or search warrants are central to a court’s probablé N
cause determination. These documents clearly fall within the definition of “judicial documents” |
and public access to them facilitates public monitoring of the various govemnment agencies and

branches. See also In re Application of Newsday, Inc., 895 F.2d 74 (2d Cir, 1990) (presuming a

common law right of access to affidavit in support of a search warrant application and discussing .

Al ¢

countervailing interests); In re Application of the N.Y, Times Co., 600 F. Supp. 2d 504, 507

(8.D.N.Y. 2009) (holding that materials in support of wiretap applications “plainly” qualify as
“judicial documents” because “courts must necessarily review them in order to perform” their task .

of deciding such applications), rgv’d on other grounds, in re NYT Wiretap, slip op. Nos. 09-0854- :
cv (L), 09-1164 (con) (2d Cir. Aug. 7, 2009).

Having found that the common law presumption of access attachgcs to the affidavits ' .
at issue, the Court must next determine the weight be to accorded to that presumption. “{Tlhe
weight to be given the presumption of access must be govemned by the role of the material at issue . (

in the exercise of Article III judicial power and the resultant value of such information to those

monitoring the federal courts.” United States v. Amodeo, 71 F.3d 1044, 1049 (2d Cir. 1995)

COSTIGAN- MOTION TO UNSEAL WRD VERSION B/11/09 1,
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Balancing the Competing Interests

“Once the weight of the [common law] presumption [of access] is determined, a

court must balance competing considerations against it.”” Amodeo II, 71 F.3d at 1050. See also

Lugosch, 435 F.3d at 124 (2d Cir. 2006) (“Notwithstanding the presumption of access under . . . thc
common law . . . , the documnents may be kept under seal if ‘countervailing factors’ . . . so l
demand.”). The Court thus turns to the competing interests that the Government contends require ,
denying access. Where the presumption of access is “of the highest” weight, as to material sought fi.:\,'
by the public or press, the material “should not remain under seal absent the most compelling
reasons.” Lugosch, 435 F.3d at 123 (emphasis in original) (quoting Joy v. North, 692 F.2d 880 (2c1ff:j )
Cir. 1982)), This standard applies here. Thus, the seizure warrant affidavits cannot remain under |
seal unless the countervailing factors provide “the most compelling [of] reasons™ to deny access, | .
Id. In balancing the relevant countervailing factors, the Court “has a responsibility to exercise an. '
informed discretion . . . with a sensitive appreciation of the ¢ircumstances” surrounding the

affidavits. Nixon, 435 U.S. at 603, To the extent that compelling reasons exist to deny public

access to the subject affidavits, the limitation should not be broader than necessary. See, e.g., M
Newsday, 895 F.2d at 80 (warning against "drastic restrictions on the common law right of access" *
and approvingly noting district court's limited redactions); In re $an Francisco Chrogicle, No. MO7~ 3
256 (TCP), 2007 WL 2782753, at *2, *4 (ED.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2007) (limiting redactions to o
identifying information of witnesses where the rolc of that information in the exercise of judicial :
power and its value in monitoring courts were "minimal"); In re Searches of Semtex Indus. Corp.,

876 F. Supp. 426, 429 (E.D.N.Y. 1995) (directing the eventual unsealing of warrant application

with redactions of only "information regarding under cover agents or cooperators"). The Court is

required to order disclosure absent compelling reasons to deny access and even then must employ,

COSTIGAN MOTION TQ UNSEAL WPD VERSION 8/11/0% 13
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|
!

require the redaction of certain portions of the subject affidavits and the Conte Declaration,

although certain portions of those documents will be unsealed at this time.? See Aref, 533 F.3d alt
82 (“[W]hile the findings [supporting denial of access] must be made on the record for our review,“/’w
‘such findings may be entered under seal, if appropriate.”” (quoting In re N.Y. Times Co., 828 F.2d |
at 116)). Therefore, although the complete versions of the documents will remain under seal o
pending further order of the Court, redacted versions of the warrant affidavits and the Conte
Declaration will be placed in the Court's public file. The following portions of the documents w111
be redacted from the public versions: June 2, 2009, Aff. 7 5 (last sentence only) and 7-13; June; o
24, 2009, Aff. 1 6 (last sentence only), and 8-14;° Conte Decl. 19 9-13, and 15, Exs. 5-7.1

CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, the June 2, 2009, and June 24, 2009, seizure warrant

§ The Court has also considered whether, if the First Amendment standard were
applicable, further disclosure would be warranted at this time and concludes that
none would be. The First Amendment generally imposes a “more stringent . . .
framework” for permitting closure than does the common law. Lugosch, 435 F 3d at
124 (remanding to the district court for performance of the balancing of interests), .
However, under the particular circumstances presented here, the balancing analysis :
would be identical under both frameworks. The First Amendment requires a Court
to determine whether “closure is essential to preserve higher values” and, if so,
make “specific, on the record findings” demonstrating that such a necessity exists
and that the closure is “narrowly tailored to serve that interest.” Lugosch, 435 F.3d -
at 120 (quoting In re N.Y. Times Co., 828 F.2d at 116). The law enforcement and =
investigative concerns on which the Court has made its common law balancing '
determinations are also "higher values"” for purposes of First Amendment access ,
analysis, See, e.g., East Side Ophthalmology, 1996 WL 384891, at *3; In re Search -
Warrant Executed February 1, 1995, No. M 18-65 (RTW), 1995 WL 406276 at *3
(8.D.N.Y. July 7, 1995); In re Gunn, 855 F.2d at 574. Here, as is appropriate in a
First Amendment analysis, the Court has also narrowly tailored its decision to
narrowly preserve these compelling countervailing interests, or higher values.

Any footnote within a redacted portion of text shall also be redacted.

10 Exhibits 1 and 3 are the June 2, 2009, and June 24, 2009, affidavits, respectively.
These exhibits are to be redacted in the manner described herein.

COSTIGAN - MOTION TG {JNSEAL WPD VERSION 8/11/09 1511'
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affidavits are hereby unsealed in redacted form, as reflected in the attached Exhibits A and B. Th:e/‘\:' I,
Government’s application to file the original of the Conte Declaration and exhibits under seal is |
granted, but that declaration and its exhibits are hereby unsealed to the extent that the Governmeﬁt.l‘\'%\' ’A
is directed promptly to file a redacted copy of the declaration and exhibits consistent with the
instructions set forth in the preceding paragraph.

To the extent any of the redacted portions remain under seal following the Court's. "
consideration of the Government's submission regarding the impact of the Rennick indictment, thé';ll ‘
Government is directed to make a report to the Court, ex parte and under seal in the first instance, '
as to the status of its relevant investigative and seizure activities, within 120 days from the date |
hereof and in any event within seven calendar days of any occurrence that obviates the need for | ,‘
continued redaction of any portion of the affidavits or declaration that remains under seal,

SO ORDERED.

Dated: New York, New York
August 11, 2009

LA TAYLOR SWAIN
United States District Judge
Part

COSTIGAN- MOTION TO UNSEAL WED VERSION 8/11/09
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EXHIBIT A o
Redacted pursuant to August 11, 2009, Opinion and Order
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officers, Where the actions, statements, and conversations of
others are recounted herein, they are recounted in substance and
in part, unless otherwise indicated, Because this affidavit is
for the limited purpose of establishing probable cause for a
Seizure warrant, it does not set forth every fact learned in the
course of this investigation.

2, This affidavit is submitted in support of the
Government's application for the issuance of warrants to seiie
and forfeit the following:

a. ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT WELLS FARGO BANK IN ji

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA, IN ACCOUNT NUMBER
7986104185, HELD IN THE NAME OF ACCOUNT

S ‘ SERVICES INC . —AND—ALL - PROPERTY—TRACEARHE — e
THERETO, '

{the “Defendant Account”) .
3. A9 set forth below, there is probable cause to

believe that the Defendant Account contains property involved in

actual or attempted money laundering transactions, or property
Eraceable to such property, in violation of 18 U.§.C. §
1956(a) (2) (A) . As such, the conterits of the Defendant Account
are subject to forfeiture to the United States pursuant to 18
U.5.C, §§ 981(a) (1) (A) and 984.

4. In addition, there is probable cause to believe
that the Defendant Account contains property that constitutes or
is derived from'proceeds traceable to the operation of an illegal

gambling business, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1955, and the
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b

illegal transmission of gambling information, in violation of 18

U.5.C. § 1084, and property used in the operation of an illegal

gémbling business and commission of the gambling offense. As

such, the contents of the Defendant Account are subject to

forfeiture to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§

981 (a) (1) (C), 984, and 1955(d). ‘

CKG :‘)3

5. For approximately three years FBI agents have been

investigating illegal internet gambling businesses which,

although typically based offshore, predominantly serve players

based in the United States. These gambling businesses offer

*real money” casino games, poker, and sports betting to United
States players, in violation of multiple federal criminal
statutes including but not limited to 18 U.S5.C. § 1084 (making it

unlawful to use a wire in connection with placing a bet or

wagex), § 1955 (making it illegal to operate an illegal gambling
business) and §§ 1956 and 1957 (monéy laundering). Although
these gambling businesses are based offshore, the vast majority
of their customers are in the United States, Consequently, thesge
internet gambling businesses necessarily rely on the United
States financial system to move funds between the offshore

accounts of the gambling businesses and the United Stateg bank

accounts of their customers. (NN

3
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20.

In addition, 18 U.5.C. § 1955 has its own

forfeiture provision, Specifically, § 1955(d) provides that

“[alny property, including money, used in violation of the

provisions of this section may be seized and forfeited to the

United States.”

Furthermorc, 18 U.6.C. § 984 providen, in rclcvant

{1) In any forfeiture action in rem in which the
subject property is . . . funds deposited in an
account in a financial institution .

(A) it shall not be necessary for the Govermnment
to identify the specific property involved in the
offunge that lu the basis for the forfeiture; and

P.31-49

(B) it shall not be a defense that the property
involved in such an offense has been removed and

replaced by identical property.

(2) Bxcept as provided in asubacction (b), any
1dentical property found in the same place oy
account as the property involved in the offense

subject tu furfeiture under this sectioun,

No action purswant te this section to forfeit
property not traceable directly to the offense
that is the basis tor the forteiture may be
commenced more than 1 year from the date of the

21.
part, that:
(a)
rhat..la
(R)
offenae.
22.

Section 981(b) (1) of Title 18, United Statesa Code,

provides that any property gubject to forfeiture to the Uniced

States under 18 U,S.C. § #81(a) may ke geized by the Attorncy

General, Section 981(b) (2) provides that such a seizure may be

made “pursuant

to a warrant obtained in Lhe vyame manner ag

11
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- provided for a search warrant under the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure,"

23, In addition, Section 981(b) (3) provides that,
notwithstanding the provisions of Federal Rule of Crimipal "
Procegura 4l(a), a seizure warrant may be issued pursuant to
Section 981(b) by a judicial officer in any district in which a
forfeiture action against the property may be filed under Title
28, United States Code, Section 1355(b). Under Section
1355(b) (1) (A), a forfeiture action or proceeding may be brought
in the district in which any of the acts or omissions giving rise
to the forfeiture occurred.

CONCLUSION

24, Por the foregoing reasons, I submit that there is

probable caugse to believe that the funds on deposit in the

Defendant Account are (a) monies involved in a money laundering

transaction or attempted money laundering transaction, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (2) (A); and (b) the proceeds of
illegal internet gambling and property involved in illegal

internet gambling, in viclation of 18 U.S5,C. § 1955.

Accordingly, the Defendant Account is subject to forfeiture to

the United States of America pursuant to 18 U.5.C. §§

981 (a) (1) (A) and (C) and 1955, and I respectfully request that '::Q
the Court jssue a seizure warrant for the funds on deposait in the

Defendant Accounts, as described in paragraph 2, supra.

12
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EXHIBIT B .
Redacted pursuant to August 11, 2009, Opinion and Order o
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W
s

forth below from my personal participation in the investigation,fk”
my review of bank records and other documents, and my
conversations with civilian witnesses and other law enforcement
officers. Where the actions, statements, and conversations of ﬁ-
others are recounted herein, they are recounted in substance and\['
in part, unless otherwise indicated., Because this affidavit is
for the limited purpose of establishing probable cause for a
seizure warrant, it does not set forth every fact learned in the
course of this investigation.
2. This affidavit is submitted in support of the
Government's application for the issyance of warrants to seize
and forfeit the following:
a. ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION BANK IN SAN
FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA, IN ACCOUNT NUMBER
3530000248 HELD IN THE NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES
CORP. (“UB Acct-1"); and

b. ALL FUNDS ON DEPOSIT AT UNION BANK IN SAN
FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA,' IN ACCOUNT NUMBER
3530000256 HELD IN THE NAME OF ACCOUNT SERVICES
CORP (“UB Acct-2");

(collectively, the “Defendant Accounts.”)

3. As set forth below, there is probable cause to , ;'
believe that the Defendant Accounts contain preperty involved in
actual or attempted money laundering transactions, or property

Eraceable to such property, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1956 (a) .

As such, the contents of the Defendant Accounts are subject to
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forfeiture to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§
981(a) (1) (A) and 984,

4. In addition, there is probable cause to believe
that the Defendant Accounts contaings property that constitutes ofg
is derived from proceeds traceable to the operation of an illegaiﬁ
gambling business, in violation of 18 U.S.C, § 1955, and the ]
illegal transmission of gambling information, in violation of 18-5,3
U.8.C. § 1084, and property used in the opergtiOn of an illegal I
gambling business and commission of the gambling offense. As
such, the contents of the Defendant Accounts are subject to
forfeiture to the United States pursuant to 18 U.8.C. §§

981l (a) (1) (C), 984, and 1955(d).

RELATED SETZURE WARRANT

5- On June 2, 2009, the Government sought a seizure
warrant for all funds in an account held in the name of Account
Services, Inc. at Wells Fargo Bank in San Francisco, California
(*Wells Fargo Account Services Account”) on the grounds thét
those funds (like the Defendant Accounts) congist of property
involved in actual or attempted money laundering transactions, or‘g

lproperty traceable to such property, and consist of property that‘/
constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the |
operation of an illegal gambling business, and the illegal
transmission of gambling information, and property used in the

operation of an illegal gambling business and commission of the
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accounts of the gambling businesses and the United States bank

accounts of their custowers. (NG !
L —
D D G
(G
L]

7. Internet gambling businesses based offshore use the
United States financial system to transfer payments to United
States customers who have "“won’ more money than they “logt” while;ﬂi
gambling online. One method that internet gambling businesses
use to transfer funds to United States customers is to transfer
large amounts of money from coffshore accounts into a United
States bank account and then mail payout checks from this account E

to the United States bank account to their tnited States

customers. Sy
ACCOUNT SERVICES' HISTORY OF PROVIDING PAYMENT SERVICES

FOR _ONLINE GAMBLING COMPANIELY v
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THE DEFE T CcO S WERE USED TO PROVIDE PAYMENT SER ES \%.

FOR ONLINE GAMBL OMP.
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STATUTORY AUTHORITY '
15. The statutory provisions pursuant to which the

contents of the Defendant Accountg are subject to seizure and

forfei;ure are desacribed below.

16. Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (A)
gubjects to forfeiture “(a)ny property, real or pefsonal,
involved in a transaction or attempted transaction in violation
of , . . section 1956 . . . of this title, or any property

traceable to such property.”

17. Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956
provides, in pertinent part, that

(a) (1) Whoever, knowing that the property
involved in a financial transaction represents the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity,
conducts or attempts to conduct such a financial X
transaction which in fact involves the proceeds of ‘
apecified unlawful activity- '

(A} (i) with the intent to promote
the carrying on of specified
unlawful activity; or
{
(B) knowing that the transaction is designed in
whole or in part—
(1) to conceal or disguise the nature, the
location, the source, the ownership, or the

11
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control of the proceeds of specified unlawful
activity . . . .lor]
(a) (2) Whoever transports, transmits, or transfers, or ,
attempts to transport, transmit, or transfer a monetary '

instrument or funds from a place in the United States ,
to or through a place outside the United States or to a

place in the United States from or through a place
outside the United States--

(A) with the intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful
activity . . . .

shall be guilty of a crime,

18. Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956 (¢) (7) (A) provides that the term “specified unlawful
activity” inclu&es *any act or activity constituting an offense
listed in section 1961(1) of this title”. Included among the
enumerateg offenges in 18 U.5.C. § 1961(1) is 18 U.85.C. § 1955,
which prohibits the operating of illegal gambling businesses, 18
U.8.C. § 1084, and racketeering activity, which includes any act
or threat involving gambling, which is chargeable under State law
and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year. Q

19, Furthermore, 18 U.S.C. § 9281 (a) (1) (C)

subjects to forfeiture:

Any property, real or personal, which
constitutes or is derived from proceeds .
traceable to . . . any offense constituting )
‘gpecific unlawful activity’ (as defined in \
section 1956 (c) (7) of this title), or a

conspiracy to commit such offense.

.20, Again, as noted in paragraph 21, supra, 18 U.S.C.

§ 1956 (c) (7) (A) provides that the term “specified unlawful

12
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States under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a) may be seized by the Attorney
General. Section 981(b) (2) provides that such a seizure may be
made "pursuant to a warrant obtained in the same manner as s
provided for a search warrant under the Federal Rules of Criminallf
Procedure."

'24. In addition, Section 981 (b) (3) provides that,
notwithstanding the provisions of Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 41(a), a seigure warrant may be issued pursuant to
Section 981(b) by a judicial officer in any district in which a
forfeiture action against the property may be filed undex Title
28, United States Code, Section 1355(b). TUnder Section
1355(b) (1) (A), a forfeiture action or proceeding may be brought ;}
in the district in which any of the acts or omissions giving riséj};
to the forfeiture occurred.

CONCLUSION

25. For the foregoing reasons, I submit that there is
probable cause to believe that the funde on deposit in the
Defendant Account are (a) monies involved in a money laundering
transaction or attempted money laundering transaction, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a); and (b) the proceeds of illegal‘gg
internet gambling and property involved in illegal internet P
gambling, in violation of 18 U.S5.C. § 1355. Accordingly, the

Defendant Account iz subject to forfeiture to the United States

of America pursuant to 18 U.5.C. §§ 981(a) (1) (a) and (C) and

14



